Olffice of Information Governance and Privacy

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
500 12% St., SW
Washington, D.C. 20536

U.S. Immigration
and Customs
Enforcement

June 17, 2022

Ms. Jacqueline Stevens

601 University Place, 2d floor
Political Science Department
Evanston, IL 60208

RE: Stevensv. ICE 20-cv-2725
ICE FOIA Case Number 2020-ICLI-00042
Eighteenth Interim Release

Dear Ms. Stevens:

This letter is the eighteenth interim response to your client’s Freedom of Information Act (FOIA)
requests to U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE). Your client seeks records
relating to the following Freedom of Information Act requests: 2018-ICFO-56530, 2020-ICFO-
18634, 2019-ICFO-33429, 2019-ICFO-29171, 2018-ICFO-59138, and 2019-ICFO-24680. ICE
has considered your request under the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552. This interim response provides
additional documents responsive to your FOIA requests 2018-ICFO-59138.

FOIA request 2018-ICFO-59138 seeks:

“A. The most recent Jail Services Costs Statement (JSCS) for the following facilities ICE uses to
hold people under immigration laws:

1) the Berks County Residential Center, Berks County, PA;
2) South Texas Family Residential Center, Dilley, TX;

3) Hudson County Jail, Hudson County, NJ;

4) Stewart County, GA, (CoreCivic);

5) Aurora, Colorado (GEO)

6) Tacoma, WA (GEO)

7) Otay Mesa, CA (CoreCivic)

8) Eloy, AZ (CoreCivic)

9) Pinal County Jail, AZ

10) Otero County Processing Center, NM (MTC)

11) Joe Corley Detention Facility, Conroe TX (GEO)

12) Houston, TX (CoreCivic on Export Drive)

13) IAH, Secure Adult Detention Center (MTC) (Livingstone, TX)
14) LaSalle, LA
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B. Memorandum from Michael J. Davidson, Chief, CALD, OPLA, ICE to William C. Randolph,
Director and Head of Contracting Activity, OAQ, ICE, Funding Intergovernmental Service
Agreements (Feb. 7, 2013)

C. All information in any medium including but not limited to e-mail, text messages, reports,
contracts, memoranda, letters, or faxes signed by, from, to OR about Charlie Dent, John
McCormack, Eric Ruth, Matthew Lerch, Judith Kraine, Mark Baldwin, William Dennis, Thomas
Gajewski, Judith Schwank, Mark Scott in ICE components that handle Berks County, PA ICE
Intergovernmental Service Agreements (IGSAs) and not responsive to previous requests. This
means any document under ICE control associated with detention or removal operations, facility
leases, purchases, sales, or services rendered in Berks County, PA that reference any of the
individuals listed above is responsive to this request. Please make sure to inquire of any ICE
component responsible for any negotiations with Berks County. The time frame of this request is
2000 to the present.

The most likely location of records responsive to this request are offices responsible for the
Berks County, PA operations, contracts, and reviews, including but not limited to litigation for
that facility. In particular, there should be communications in 2006 about ICE-contracted facility
firings based on allegations of unlawful actions. Components within ICE that are alerted about
misconduct or possible litigation should be searched for responsive records.

D. Please also include all grievance logs and grievances for Berks County, PA, Hudson County,
NJ, and Otero County Processing Center, January 1, 2010, to present. (Names and other
Personally Identifying information is of course exempt and may be redacted.)

E. All Jail Services Costs Statements for Berks County Family Facility and Hudson County, NJ
2001 to present.

F. Since January 1, 1999, the earliest first 100 pages of documents associated with the IGSA for:

1. Berks County, PA
2. Hudson County, NJ

For "F" please request documents of the component of ICE predecessor INS that would initiate
discussions of IGSAs for the purposes of holding people under immigration laws. I am seeking
the first information referencing these county governments as suitable detention locations by an
INS component in any medium, including but not limited to emails, letters, proposals,
memorandums, or reports.

G. All Evaluations associated with contracts for facilities below, including technical and
performance evaluations by the Contracting Officers and ICE Detention Planning and
Acquisition Unit and ongoing performance and renewals by contract officers EXCEPT Inspector
reports. The time frame for this request is January 1, 2000, or the first year of the facility's
submission of the JCSC through the present.

1) the Berks County Residential Center, Berks County, PA;
2) South Texas Family Residential Center, Dilley, TX;
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3) Hudson County Jail, Hudson County, NJ;

4) Stewart County, GA, (CoreCivic);

5) Aurora, Colorado (GEO)

6) Tacoma, WA (GEO)

7) Otay Mesa, CA (CoreCivic)

8) Eloy, AZ (CoreCivic)

9) Pinal County Jail, AZ

10) Otero County Processing Center, NM (MTC)

11) Joe Corley Detention Facility, Conroe TX (GEO)
12) Houston, TX (CoreCivic on Export Drive)

13) IAH, Secure Adult Detention Center (MTC) (Livingstone, TX)
14) LaSalle, LA

H.  Evaluations of JCSCs by Contracting Officers and ICE Detention Planning and Acquisition
Unit for all detention contracts since January 1, 2008.

I.  Evaluations of the FIRST JCSCs by Contracting Officers and ICE Detention Planning and
Acquisition Units (or their predecessors) for all currently operating ICE/INS detention facilities
except as covered by (H).”

ICE has considered your requests under the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552.

A search of the Office of Acquisitions located records that were potentially responsive to your
request. For this production ICE reviewed 508 pages of potentially responsive documents. Of
those 508 pages, ICE determined that 1 page was deemed nonresponsive; 361 pages will be
released in full and the remaining 21 pages will be withheld in part pursuant to FOIA
Exemptions 4, 6, 7(C) and 7(E) as described below. A total of 382 pages have been Bates
numbered 2020-ICLI-00042 7043 through 2020-ICLI-00042 7424.

Included in this release are 72 pages that were sent out for consultation. ICE has determined that
portions of the 72 pages will be withheld pursuant to FOIA Exemptions 6, 7(C) and, 7(E) as
described below. These pages have been Bates numbered 2020-ICLI-00042 STGi 012 through
2020-ICLI-00042 STGi 83.

Please note that 184 pages have been sent for submitter’s notice to STG International and The
GEO Group. Those pages will be produced after review is complete.

ICE has applied FOIA Exemptions 6 and 7(C) to protect from disclosure the personally
identifiable information of DHS employees and third parties contained within the records.

FOIA Exemption 6 exempts from disclosure personnel or medical files and similar files the
release of which would cause a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. This requires a
balancing of the public’s right to disclosure against the individual’s right to privacy. The privacy
interests of the individuals in the records you have requested outweigh any minimal public

! Please note that these pages were from the “February 2022” batch of records that was inadvertently skipped;
similarly, the May 2022 production was from the “January 2022” batch of records that was missed. Therefore, for
sequencing, the May 2022 production and this production should follow the December 2021 release (though the
Bates numbering will not be in sequence).
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interest in disclosure of the information. Any private interest you may have in that information
does not factor into the aforementioned balancing test.

FOIA Exemption 7(C) protects records or information compiled for law enforcement purposes
that could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.
This exemption takes note of the strong interests of individuals, whether they are suspects,
witnesses, or investigators, in not being unwarrantably associated with alleged criminal activity.
That interest extends to persons who are not only the subjects of the investigation, but those who
may have their privacy invaded by having their identities and information about them revealed in
connection with an investigation. Based upon the traditional recognition of strong privacy
interest in law enforcement records, categorical withholding of information that identifies third
parties in law enforcement records is ordinarily appropriate. As such, [ have determined that the
privacy interest in the identities of individuals in the records you have requested clearly outweigh
any minimal public interest in disclosure of the information. Please note that any private interest
you may have in that information does not factor into this determination.

FOIA Exemption 7(E) protects records compiled for law enforcement purposes, the release of
which would disclose techniques and/or procedures for law enforcement investigations or
prosecutions or would disclose guidelines for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions if
such disclosure could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of the law. I have
determined that disclosure of certain law enforcement sensitive information contained within the
responsive records could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of the law. Additionally,
the techniques and procedures at issue are not well known to the public.

If you have any questions about this letter, please contact Assistant United States Attorney Alex
Hartzler at Alex.Hartzler@usdoj.gov.

Sincerely,

Lynnea 4 Scharkamp
Lynnea A. Schurkamp
Deputy FOIA Officer

Enclosure: 454 pages
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